DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 424 931 PS 027 029

AUTHOR Cummins, Lauren

Transforming Teacher-Directed Practice to Child-Initiated TITLE

Practice within a Treatment/Wellness Preschool through Staff

Training.

1998-00-00 PUB DATE

49p.; Ed.D. Practicum I Report, Nova Southeastern NOTE

University.

PUB TYPE Dissertations/Theses - Practicum Papers (043) --

Tests/Questionnaires (160)

EDRS PRICE MF01/PC02 Plus Postage.

At Risk Persons; Change Strategies; Child Development; Child DESCRIPTORS

> Responsibility; Class Activities; Classroom Environment; Classroom Techniques; *Educational Change; Educational Improvement; Open Education; Preschool Children; *Preschool

Education; *Preschool Teachers; *Student Centered Curriculum; Student Participation; Student Projects; *Teacher Guidance; Teacher Student Relationship

ABSTRACT

This practicum project sought to facilitate change in preschool teacher classroom behavior from teacher-directed practice to child-initiated practice. The goals of the practicum focused on changes that would foster child-initiated activities in order to promote healthy and holistic development, positive self-esteem, and resiliency skills in young children of chemically dependent and abusive mothers. A 3-month training program was developed and implemented that provided the director and the teacher with opportunities to grow in knowledge and skills in the areas of child development, developmentally appropriate practice, classroom environments, quidance, and professional growth and development fostered through reflective practice. This training included the use of videos, journal reading, dialogue, discussions, and weekly journal writing. Post-intervention data indicated that the training program resulted in an increase of child-initiated decision making within the classroom from 30 minutes to 90 minutes per day, a revision of the daily schedule to allow four out of five activities to be child-initiated, and lesson planning that incorporated choice making for children. A self-study tool was also provided to the director and the teacher to promote growth in developmentally appropriate practice within the classroom. Based on the findings, recommendations were made to support other professionals working at changing teacher-directed practice to child-initiated practice. Contains 37 references. (JPB)

Reproductions supplied by EDRS are the best that can be made

from the original document.



Transforming Teacher-Directed Practice to Child-Initiated Practice Within a Treatment/Wellness Preschool Through Staff Training

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION Office of Educational Research and Improvement EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)

- This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it.
- ☐ Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality.
- Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy.

by
Lauren Cummins
Cluster 85

A Practicum I Report Presented to the Ed.D. Program in Child and Youth Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Education

> PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE AND DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED BY

Cummins

TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)

1

Nova Southeastern University 1998





APPROVAL PAGE

This practicum took place as described.

	Dennie Bublica
	Verifier: Dennis Bunkley
	Program Specialist: Children's Wellness Program
	Title
	Cleveland, Ohio
	Address
June 8, 1998	.
Date	

This practicum report was submitted by Lauren Cummins under the direction of the advisor listed below. It was submitted to the Ed. D. Program in Child and Youth Studies and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education at Nova Southeastern University.

24 July 1998

Date of Final Approval of Report

Roberta Wong Bounerat

Roberta Wong Bouverat, Ph. D., Advisor



Acknowledgements

The writer wishes to thank Dennis Bunkley, program specialist and director of the preschool program for his time, openness, and willingness to foster and promote change within the preschool program so that young children's needs could be met appropriately and effectively. Thanks also goes to Shandala Rogers, the preschool teacher for her openness to embrace developmentally appropriate practice and her willingness to look carefully and intrinsically at her own classroom practices.



iii

Table of Contents

	Page
Acknowledgments	iii
Abstract	
Chapter I: Introduction	1
Description of Community	1
Writer's Work Setting	1
Writer's Role	2
Chapter II: Study of the Problem	3
Problem Statement	
Problem Description	
Problem Documentation	
Causative Analysis	
Relationship of the Problem to the Literature	
Chapter III: Anticipated Outcomes and Evaluation Instruments	1.5
Goals and Expectations	
Expected Outcomes	
Measurement of Outcomes	
Weasurement of Outcomes	13
Chapter IV: Solution Strategy	17
Discussion and Evaluation of Solutions	
Description of Selected Solutions	
Report of Action Taken	
Chapter V: Results	
Results.	25
Discussion	. : 28
Recommendations	32
Dissemination	33
References	34
Appendixes	
A Educating Young Children: A Belief System Survey	38
B Teacher's Self Report: Developmentally Appropriate Practice	
Figures	٠.
Figures 1 The Daily Schedule	6
2 The Teacher's Lesson Plans	
3 The Revised Daily Schedule	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
4 The Revised Teacher's Lesson Plans	21



Abstract

Transforming Teacher-Directed Practice to Child-Initiated Practice Within a Treatment/Wellness Preschool Through Staff Training. Cummins, Lauren, 1998: Practicum Report, Nova Southeastern University, Ed. D. Program in Child and Youth Studies. Preschool Education/Staff Training/Developmentally Appropriate Practice/Teacher Practice/Reflective Practice/Child-Initiated Learning/Child-Initiated Choice Making.

This practicum was designed to facilitate change in teacher classroom behavior from teacher-directed practice to child-initiated practice. The goals of the practicum focused on changes that would foster child-initiated activities in order to promote healthy and holistic development, positive self-esteem, and resiliency skills in young children of chemically dependent and abusive mothers.

The writer developed a three month training program that provided the director and the teacher with opportunities to grow in knowledge and skills in the areas of child development, developmentally appropriate practice, classroom environments, guidance, and professional growth and development fostered through reflective practice. This training included the use of videos, journal reading, dialogue, discussions, and weekly journal writing.

The training program resulted in an increase of child-initiated choice making within the classroom from 30 minutes a day to 90 minutes a day, a revision of the daily schedule that provided four out of five child-initiated activities, and lesson planning that incorporated choice making for children. A self-study tool was also provided to the director and the teacher to promote growth in developmentally appropriate practice within the classroom.

Permission Statement

July 20, 1998 (Mate

As a student in the Ed. D. Program in Child and Youth Studies, I do (x) do not () give permission to Nova Southeastern University to distribute copies of this practicum report on request from interested individuals. It is my understanding that Nova Southeastern University will not charge for dissemination except to cover the costs of microfiching, handing, and mailing of the materials.

sionature



Chapter 1 Introduction

Description of Community

This practicum took place in a central urban community located in the midwest. This community is ranked the 24th largest city in the United States with a population of over 500,000. The community is ethnically diverse with 48% Anglo, 47% African-American, and 5% Hispanic. The city's diversity is also reflected in the labor force, with tradesman, skilled laborers, and blue and white-collar workers. The majority of this labor force has established this community as a manufacturing city. However, it is slowly shifting to a service-based economy. The annual per capita income is a little over 20,000, with an unemployment rate at 13%. The median age is 32 years (United States Census Bureau, 1997).

Writer's Work Setting

The children's preschool program, which was the focus of this practicum, is part of a comprehensive program serving women who have a history of chemical dependency and child maltreatment and their children. The mission of the program is to intervene in the cycle of chemical dependency and abuse for the mother and the child. The purpose of this intervention is to prevent the breakup of the family by fostering the development of a healthy system.

The children's preschool program is part of the overall services designed to impact the family system. This program provides young children, ages three to five with a positive and safe therapeutic learning environment while their mothers attend chemical dependency treatment. The size of the preschool class varies depending on the number of



mothers attending treatment at a given time. The program is in operation Monday through Friday from 9:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m.

Both the mothers' treatment program and the children's preschool class are located in the same building. Mothers take their children to class before going to treatment. All children attend the program for at least 2-1/2 hours daily. Some of the children attend longer days, depending on the phase of treatment for the mother.

The preschool program works in cooperation and collaboration with the infant and toddler program, and is unique in that it offers a therapeutic learning environment that serves the family system as a whole. As part of treatment, mothers are scheduled to visit the preschool classroom and participate. This classroom involvement fostered within the mother healthy and positive ways to interact and be responsive to her child. Mothers in the second and third phase of treatment also ate lunch with their children. Parenting classes were provided for all mothers during treatment. Families also received support and counseling from a child and family therapist.

The preschool program consists of one classroom with a lead teacher and a teacher's aide. A director supervises the program. A child therapist works in cooperation with the teacher and the director to provide additional support to children within the classroom and to provide individual child therapy.

Writer's Role

The writer works as a consultant for the preschool program. The scope of responsibility includes observing, collaborating, evaluating, and providing education in the area of developmentally appropriate practice for the preschool. Much of this consulting work is done directly with the preschool teacher and the director. This practicum reflected this scope of responsibility.



Chapter II: Study of the Problem

Problem Statement

The problem identified for this practicum experience was that children within the preschool program were not given opportunities for child-initiated choice making within the classroom. Developmentally appropriate practice, as defined by the National Association of the Education of Young Children identified child-initiated activities as crucial in fostering healthy and holistic development in young children (Bredekamp & Copple, 1997). Choice making gives meaning to children's learning by allowing active involvement in experiences that interest them. Choice making also helps foster positive self-esteem by allowing children to feel capable and responsible for their choices and become masters of their own environment. Miles (1991) believed that young children experienced excessive stress and fatigue through skill driven activities that were not developmentally appropriate.

Child-initiated choice making is also crucial for children whose learning or self-identity may be negatively impacted through poverty or chemical dependency and abuse. The importance of encouraging self-choice and responsibility for preschool children at risk was documented throughout the literature (Antoniadis, 1994; Brown, 1995; Kraizer, 1990; Osborne, 1994). Self-choice fosters resiliency and promotes healthy living strategies by fostering skills that help the child avoid the repetitive patterns of abuse and chronic dysfunction associated within the family. Studies also found that children at risk from low socio-economic backgrounds did better in mastering basic skills through developmentally appropriate programs that provided child-initiated activities (Frede & Barnett, 1992; Marcon, 1992).



Decisions that children at risk make as adults are often shaped by personal perceptions about their own life and the choices that were made by others close to them. Prevention, according to Kraizer (1990) required skills in problem-solving, effective choice making, and positive self-esteem. Through child-initiated activities, young children learn to identify healthy choices and take responsibility for their own decisions, which promotes healthy self-esteem.

Problem Description

Developmentally appropriate practice, as defined by the National Association of Education for Young Children, promotes and fosters child-initiated choice making within preschool classrooms (Bredekamp & Copple, 1997). However, through observation and teacher documentation the writer identified that the focus of the day within this preschool was on teacher-directed activities. Children, ages three to five, spent time in large group activities doing what the teacher planned. In these experiences, the children sat quietly, while the teacher talked and directed the activity. The activities were academically oriented. The calendar, number, and alphabet were taught to the children on a daily basis. When children were given the opportunity for choice making, the time was limited. Most of this choice making was observed upon arrival in the morning. The time for children to arrive was from 9:00 a.m. to 9:30 a.m. Depending on the arrival time, children would get as little as 10 minutes to choose and become involved with the activity. Small group activities were also limited. When these activities were made available, the teacher chose the activity for the children.

Though the classroom was controlled and managed, the children were not given the opportunity to gain the skills in responsible choice making. These skills were



identified earlier in this paper as crucial for young children to grow in healthy development and in positive self-esteem. Choice making skills are even more crucial for young children who have experienced chemical abuse and neglect.

Problem Documentation

To gather evidence about the problem, four, 2-1/2 hour classroom observations were conducted. During each of these observations, the writer kept a series of running records to identify what was said and done within the preschool classroom. The time that corresponded to each specific activity was also recorded. Child-initiated activities were identified by the writer as opportunities within the day for children to make choices among a variety of activities and materials. These activities were actively engaging for the children and did not involve the direct teaching of concepts by the teacher. In each of these observations, it was identified that 30 minutes out of 150 minutes were given to the children by the teacher to make child-initiated choices. These 30 minutes were given to the children upon arrival in the morning from 9:00 a.m. to 9:30 a.m.

The writer also received a copy of the daily schedule from the teacher. This daily schedule was planned by the teacher and approved by the director. The daily schedule had six different activities identified within the 2-1/2 hour day (see Figure 1). One out of six of these activities was identified as self-choice time. This correlated to the 30 minutes that was identified as self-selection time during each of the four observations. During this self-choice time, the teacher was not directly involved in teaching any concepts to the children, but provided the time and opportunity for children to be actively involved in the environment, choosing activities that interested them.

Evidence was also identified through teacher documentation of two weekly activity plans that had one written activity each day. Out of 10 lessons, 0 lesson plans



were developed by the teacher for child-initiated choice making. The writer used the same criterion that was used for the observations and the daily schedule to identify if these lesson plans were teacher-directed or child-initiated. All ten plans were teacher-directed (see Figure 2).

9:00 a.m. Arrival: Self-choice of tabletop activities C. I.

9:25 a.m. Clean-up

9:30 a.m. Large Group: calendar, alphabet, and numeral recognition T. D.

10:00 a.m. Large Group: Children share how they feel each day. A prevention lesson and music activity is taught by the teacher. T. D.

10:30 a.m. Large Group: bathroom and snack T. D.

10:50 a.m. Large group: gross motor activities planned by teacher T. D.

11:30 a.m. Departure: Phase I

Prepare for lunch Phase II and III T. D.

Note: T. D. = teacher-directed activity

C. I. = child-initiated activity

Figure 1 The daily schedule

- Day 1: Tell children the definition of special. Sing song. Explain to each child what makes them special. Make mobiles.
- Day 2: Have children look in mirror. Explain that it is important to say something good about themselves. Sing song.
- Day 3: Children will sing a song or say something good about not using drugs in a tape recorder. Talk to children about uniqueness of voice.
- Day 4: Show picture of people using drugs and alcohol. Talk about how this is harmful.
- Day 5: Make a puppet show about the danger of drugs.
- Day 6: Talk about feelings. Tell children to move to music showing different feelings.
- Day 7: Cut out eyes for children in a paper bag. Have them make a bag to show how they feel.
- Day 8: Ask children how they would feel in different situations.
- Day 9: Give children play dough. Ask what they would do with the dough if they felt happy or sad.
- Day 10: Discuss with children drug use and how it affects families.

Figure 2 The teacher's lesson plans



Causative Analysis

Through an informal interview, the teacher and the director identified that their educational backgrounds were not in early childhood education. This was confirmed through a belief system survey designed by the writer (see Appendix A). The belief system survey identified that the teacher had a bachelor of science degree in special education with concentrated studies in learning disabilities and developmental handicaps and the director had a master of education degree in school psychology.

In addition to educational backgrounds, the belief system regarding the education of young children was also identified as a possible cause. Through an initial interview, the teacher and the director identified personal beliefs that were reflected in teacher-directed practice. The teacher and the director believed that a structured environment was important for preschool children, particularly if the children were at risk due to parental chemical dependency or abuse. This structured environment promoted a manageable environment for learning and treatment. The teacher and the director also identified that basic skills of alphabet and numbers were important to teach in this preschool, because with this population of children it was reasonable to believe that parents were not teaching basic skills at home. The teacher and the director believed these basic skills reduced the risk of school failure.

A 20-question teacher belief system survey was designed by the writer to identify what beliefs the teacher and the director valued about educating young children (see Appendix A). Ten questions were developed to identify a belief system that focused on child-initiated behavior and ten questions were developed to identify a belief system that



focused on teacher-directed behavior. A five point likert scale was used ranging from strongly value (5) to strongly do not value (1).

The belief system survey identified mean scores of 4.1 for the teacher and 4.2 for the director for the questions that focused on child-initiated behavior. The teacher-directed questions were scored at a mean of 2.8 for the teacher and 2.2 for the director. These scores indicated that the teacher and the director valued child-initiated behavior more than teacher-directed behavior. The results of the belief system survey also identified a difference in values between what the teacher and the director reported in the survey, identified in the initial interview, and did or supported in practice.

After the survey, a follow-up interview was held with the teacher and the director to discuss the inconsistency between beliefs identified through the survey and what was done in practice. In the interview, the teacher endorsed child-initiated activities for young children. However, the teacher identified a personal teaching style and belief system that was based on teacher-directed practice and stated that this teaching style was more comfortable because it provided classroom manageability. The statements made in this follow-up interview correlated with what was identified in the initial interview.

The director's response was similar to the teacher's. The director stated that in theory he valued child-initiated activities and believed these practices were developmentally appropriate for young children. However, the director's personal style was teacher-directed. The director also stated that children at risk needed an environment that was teacher-directed because manageability needed to be a priority.

Relationship of the Problem to the Literature

The topical areas of research for this practicum included developmentally appropriate practice in early childhood education, choice making for preschool children,



teachers' beliefs and practices in early childhood education, and instructional improvement. The literature review found that in practice, early childhood classrooms provided teacher-directed experiences. The evidence gathered through this research identified that child-initiated activities were not the norm in most preschools (Allen, 1996; Crowther, 1990; Dunn & Kontos, 1997; Gronlund, 1995; Madison, 1994; Passidomo, 1994; Swanson, 1994). This research also identified that teachers who had a knowledge base in early childhood education, (Hoot, Bartkowiak, & Goupel, 1989; Naber, 1995; Wien, 1995), or had personal beliefs that were supportive of developmentally appropriate practice, still tended not to provide child-initiated choice making within the classroom (Anderson, 1993; Bell, 1991; Charlesworth, Hart, Burts, & Hernandez, 1990; Hyson, Hirsh-Pasel, & Rescorla, 1990; Stipek, Daniels, Galluzzo, & Milburn, 1991; Wien).

Stipek et al. (1991) identified three main approaches to preschools and educating young children. This included academic preschools that focused on teacher-directed activities, child-initiated preschools that focused on child-centered learning, and intermediate preschools that were a blend of teacher-directed and child-initiated approaches. Through observations, interviews, and surveys, Madison (1994) found that a majority of new preschool teachers were skill driven and teacher-directed. Crowther (1990) found within literacy environments in early childhood programs that 65.6% of the preschools studied had low child-initiated activities. Dunn and Kontos (1997) found that between 20% and 30% of preschools studied used child-initiated activities.

In the skill driven programs, Swanson (1994) found children in one large group doing the same activity at the same time. Similarly, Passidomo (1994) found children



sitting and doing paper and pencil dittos, worksheets, and basal readers that were required to be finished before first grade. Gronlund (1995) also found similar activities and teacher-directed practices within early childhood classrooms through consulting work in the field of early childhood education.

This practice of teacher-directed behavior was also evident after training in early childhood education. Hoot et al. (1989) found that teachers with reasonable knowledge of developmentally appropriate practice had inconsistent practices in the classroom that did not include child-initiated activities. Through observations, interviews, and personnel records of training and teacher performance, Naber (1995) identified that staffs in preschools practiced in ways that were not developmentally appropriate. There was little child-initiated choice making. Wien (1995) also found teacher-directed approaches among teachers who had four-year degrees. This was identified through observations, interviews, and videotapes of teachers with various knowledge levels of early childhood education.

Katz (1993) believed that teacher methodology within preschools provided a powerful source to gain understanding in what a teacher believed and valued. Katz believed that knowledge in early childhood education should be seen as a priority, though it did not guarantee developmentally appropriate practice in the classroom. Charlesworth et al. (1990) found a significant difference in what a teacher believed about educating young children and what was done in practice. The literature that reflected the topic of beliefs and practice found teachers who said they believed in developmentally appropriate choice making, yet practiced with teacher-directed behavior (Anderson, 1993; Bell, 1991; Charlesworth, Hart, Burts, Mosley, and Fleege, 1993; Wien, 1995).



However, there was a stronger correlation between practice and beliefs when parents or teachers believed in teacher-directed behavior (Stipek et al., 1991). Through a classroom practice inventory (CPI), Hyson et al. (1990) found strong correlations between parental beliefs and teacher beliefs when academics were used in preschool classrooms.

The question remained with some of the research as to why teacher-directed behavior was the norm versus child-initiated choice making (Hyson et al., 1990). One of the causes that was identified was lack of knowledge in child development and developmentally appropriate practice. Hoot et al. (1989) found that formal knowledge in early childhood education correlated with appropriate practice in classrooms. Villarreal (1993) also found training in developmentally appropriate practice provided a foundation for child-initiated practice in the classroom. Yet, centers or preschools surveyed and observed either did not have training programs for teachers in developmentally appropriate practice (Naber, 1995) or had hired teachers who had no training or education in early childhood education (Kendall, 1992). Without knowledge in developmentally appropriate practice and child-initiated learning, Snider and Fu (1990) found that years of experience teaching young children had no impact on practices. Teachers still tended to use teacher-directed behavior. Hoot et al. also found that preschool teachers with degrees in education other than early childhood had difficulty unlearning the inappropriate methods that were more appropriate for older children.

However, background in early childhood education alone did not insure developmentally appropriate practice within the classroom. Teachers who had background in early childhood education also practiced with teacher-directed behavior. Charlesworth et al. (1993) and Madison (1994) identified that the differences in theory



and action dealt with an implicit process that existed within the teacher. Knowledge, according to Madison, can influence beliefs. However, personal beliefs hold a greater impact than reading research that dealt with early childhood education. Bell (1991) felt that life experiences dictate practices. Teaching practices often reflected the way teachers had been taught themselves as children (Miles, 1991). Therefore, preschool teachers remembered elementary experiences that became part of their belief system and practice. Passidomo (1994) also believed that many years of working with young children created belief systems within teachers that were not necessarily child-centered. These practices then became normal practice (Wien, 1995). The old familiar way of doing things is easier to do in practice, and what is familiar becomes habit, which is difficult to change. Implicit practice can also be influenced by cultural influences that foster the belief that academic, teacher-directed preschools produce academically prepared children (Hyson et al., 1990; O'Brien, 1991).

Administrative expectations and support can also cause practices within preschools to be more teacher-directed than child-initiated. Shuster (1995) found preschools that had no opportunities for choice making had administrators who gave no support to appropriate class size, resources, or curriculum expectations. Administrators were found to provide little support in training or staff development (Passidomo, 1994; Villarreal, 1993). Naber (1995) found that in some preschools there was not a system of staff evaluations with clear expectations or standards for child-centered, developmentally appropriate practice. Charlesworth et al. (1993) also found that administrators who supported readiness tests supported academic, teacher-directed practice within preschools and kindergartens.



The final cause that was identified through the literature review focused on teachers who felt pressured to conform to parental expectations that encouraged teacher-directed activities versus child-initiated activities. Preschool was viewed by parents, who paid for this service as a means of preparing children for the academic expectations of formal education (Miles, 1991). Other parents viewed preschool as a form of custodial care and were not concerned about the educational approach (Bell, 1991). O'Brien (1991) correlated parental expectations with cultural beliefs. Dunn and Kontos (1997) and Passidomo (1994) found that these parental expectations had an impact on how teachers practice in the classrooms, which often reflected academic expectations. Parents and the community had misconceptions about what was appropriate (Crowther, 1990).

The writer found the literature review correlated with the problem and causes identified in the writer's work setting. The limited opportunities for child-initiated activities were related to several causes. These causes included no educational background in early childhood education for the teacher or the administrator, implicit belief systems that reflected inappropriate practices, and no administrative support for developmentally appropriate practice. Administrators were cited as playing an essential role in supporting developmentally appropriate practice. Opportunities for child-initiated activities could depend on the administrator's own value system and personal beliefs about educating young children.

In the writer's work setting, the classroom experience reflected teacher-directed behavior. Though the teacher and the director identified through the survey a belief system that valued child-initiated behavior, what was done in practice was teacher-directed. The teacher and the director were unable to provide or support developmentally



appropriate practice within the classroom because of personal beliefs that valued teacherdirected behavior, specifically for this preschool and the population of children it served.



Chapter III: Anticipated Outcomes and Evaluation Instruments

Goals and Expectations

The goal for this practicum experience was to create and sustain a change from a teacher-director environment, to an environment that fostered child-initiated activities in order to promote healthy and holistic development, positive self-esteem, and resiliency skills in young children of chemically dependent and abusive mothers.

Expected Outcomes

The following outcomes were projected for this practicum:

- The teacher will give 90 minutes to child-initiated choice making in each of four,
 150-minute observations.
- 2. The teacher and director will give children the opportunity for child-initiated choice making in four out of six activities in the revised daily schedule.
- 3. The teacher will provide child-initiated choice making in 8 out of 10 daily activity plans in a two-week period.

Measurement of Outcome

Comparative analysis of qualitative evidence was used to analyze the results of each projected outcome. As a measure for outcome number one, four observations were implemented to observe the amount of time given for child-initiated choice making.

These observations were on a Monday through Thursday and lasted 2-1/2 hours each. A running record of the activities and behaviors of the children were recorded, along with the time designated for each activity. Ninety minutes for child-initiated activities each day was the expected outcome for each of the four observations.



The second outcome was measured through an analysis of a copy of the revised schedule of the day, which was developed by the teacher and the director during training provided by the writer. This schedule documented the daily activities planned from 9:00 a.m. to 11:30 a.m. each day. The expected outcome was that four of the six daily activities in the daily schedule were planned by the teacher to provide opportunity for the children to make choices.

The final outcome was identified through analysis of teacher documented lesson plans. The teacher provided the writer with a copy of two weeks of lesson plans. These plans were collected after the solution strategies were implemented. The expected outcome was that 8 of the 10 activity plans would provide children with the opportunity for choice making.



Chapter IV Solution Strategy

Discussion and Evaluation of Solutions

The problem identified is this practicum dealt with preschool children not having opportunities for choice making within the wellness-treatment program. The review of literature sought information in the areas of increasing the use of developmentally appropriate practice in early childhood programs, replacing teacher-directed activities with child-initiated activities, professional development of teachers, and the impact that training and education had on teacher practices. The solutions gleaned from the research included training and education of preschool teachers, self-assessment and evaluation of teachers, administrative support for developmentally appropriate practice within the classroom, parent education in developmentally appropriate practice to support teacher practice, and effective leadership of change agents through the process of change from teacher-directed practice to developmentally appropriate practice.

Considerable research identified that training in early childhood education was effective in promoting developmentally appropriate practice (Bell, 1991; Charlesworth et al., 1990; Charlesworth et al., 1993, Crowther, 1990; Dunn & Kontos, 1997; Gronlund, 1995; Katz, 1996; Kendall, 1992; Shuster, 1995; Snider & Fu 1990; Stott & Bowman, 1996; Swanson, 1994; Villarreal, 1993; Wadlington, 1995). This training focused specifically on the understanding of how young children develop and learn. The literature identified that teachers who felt empowered in appropriate practice through education reflected this practice in the classroom. Gronlund found that training and education were effective when teachers saw a visual picture of developmentally appropriate practice. Frequently, Gronlund sought the use of videos, slides, or



demonstrations to use within the training program to depict this visual picture. Along with visual learning, Wadlington found that training adults was also effective when adults used work experience as a resource for learning and applied the knowledge that was acquired in training to the classroom.

In addition to education, personal and on-going reflection of teaching beliefs and practices were also identified as a solution strategy (Bell, 1991; Duff, Brown, & Scory, 1995; Dunn & Kontos, 1997; Katz, 1993; Naber, 1995; Stott & Bowman, 1996; Tarreton, 1992; Wien, 1995). Reflective practice challenged teachers to look at what was done in practice, to understand why it was done, and to determine whether this practice was effective in meeting the developmental needs of young children. This form of reflection fostered development and growth in teachers and helped them to identify the need to become more developmentally appropriate and child-centered in practice. After teachers have identified this need, educational opportunities in developmentally appropriate practice can be sought to foster changes in practice.

Administrative support can also foster and sustain choice making within the preschool classroom (Naber, 1995; Villarreal, 1993). Villarreal found that staffs who were provided training in developmentally appropriate practice reflected this practice more within the classroom. Administrators who had knowledge in developmentally appropriate practice and valued this practice could also be a role model within the classroom.

Parent education in developmentally appropriate practice can also have a positive impact in promoting child-initiated choice making (Charlesworth et al., 1990; Crowther, 1990). Crowther identified lack of understanding of developmentally appropriate



practice as key to why parents seek academic programs for their children. The implementation of parent and community education helped to foster developmentally appropriate practice in the centers studied. Charlesworth et al. also found that educating parents released the burden of academic expectations.

The last solution that was identified within the literature dealt with effective leadership during the process of change (Gronlund, 1995; Rust, 1993; Shuster, 1995; Wien, 1995). Changing teaching practices from teacher-directed to child-initiated took an understanding of a process of change. This process did not involve quick innovations. Seeing new knowledge in action over a period of time often strengthens teachers' belief systems and practice in developmentally appropriate practice. This understanding of a process builds an atmosphere of trust and creates effective solutions that can be sustained over time.

Through the evidence gathered, the background education of the teacher and the director were not in the field of early childhood education. This was identified through the literature as one of the causes of the problem identified in this practicum (Hoot et al., 1989; Hyson et al., 1990; Kendall, 1992; Naber, 1995; Snider & Fu, 1990; Villarreal, 1993). Therefore, three months of training was provided for the teacher and the director in child development, developmentally appropriate practice, and child-initiated choice making. This education provided a foundation in developmentally appropriate practice and assisted the teacher in providing child-initiated activities over time. Along with the training, the teacher joined a professional organization that can support professional development and developmentally appropriate practice, as most of the teacher's time is in isolation from other professionals in the field.



The research, however, identified that education alone did not insure developmentally appropriate practice (Hoot et al., 1989; Naber, 1995; Wien, 1995). The personal style and implicit belief system of the teacher and the director could have been developed from modeled behavior that was experienced over time, became habit, and dictated teacher-directed behavior. Therefore, along with an educational foundation, there was also the need for a personal reflective process that would encourage the teacher and the director to look at belief systems in comparison to developmentally appropriate practice. This process began to encourage reflective teaching practice, which encouraged on-going growth and development. To insure that this reflective practice was sustained, a self-assessment and self-study tool that had been developed by the writer, was presented and discussed with the teacher and the director for future implementation within the program (see Appendix B).

The literature also identified that the administrator's support in developmentally appropriate choice making has an impact on the practice in the classroom (Charlesworth et al., 1993; Naber, 1995; Passidomo, 1994; Shuster, 1995; Villarreal, 1993). Therefore, the director was included in the training and self-assessment. Through training the director gained the knowledge and shared vision to support and strengthen child-initiated choice making through supervision and on-going support within the classroom.

Though parents had an impact on what was practiced in the classroom (Bell, 1991; Crowther, 1990; Dunn & Kontos, 1997; Miles, 1991; O'Brien, 1991; Passidomo, 1994), this preschool is uniquely different. Mothers who are in the program are involved in a treatment program for chemical dependency and abuse. To train mothers to understand developmentally appropriate practice was not a possibility for this practicum



experience. The coordination between the preschool and the adult treatment program was needed to implement this plan. Time constraints for this practicum did not make this solution possible. However, since parent education is one of the goals for the Preschool and Wellness Program, topics that address developmentally appropriate practices would be an important consideration for future planning.

Effective leadership was also identified as an important component for effective change. Therefore, the solution strategies took into account that change is often difficult and takes time. The director and the teacher were seen as collaborators in the training process through discussions based on needs that were identified by the teacher and the director during these sessions. This dialogue was crucial in maintaining an openness and receptiveness to change, as well as created a common vision in developmentally appropriate practice.

Description of Selected Solutions

The solution strategies for this practicum included a three-month plan that incorporates educational training, reflective assessment and evaluation, and utilization of knowledge into practice. These solution strategies were correlated to the causes of the problem by addressing the issues of education in child development and learning, education in developmentally appropriate practice, reflection on current belief systems, and inclusion of the administrator for support. The teacher and the director were trained in areas of child development and early childhood education in order to increase child-initiated choice making within the classroom. The teacher and the director reflected on belief systems and identified the impact these belief systems have on practice and developmentally appropriate behavior within the classroom. A continuous self-



assessment and evaluation tool, developed by the writer, was discussed with the teacher and the director for future use within the program (see Appendix B). The teacher began to apply this new knowledge and learning in practice through teaching strategies.

The solution strategies empowered the teacher to become more knowledgeable, capable, reflective, and supported in fostering child-initiated practice. Through training and reflective practice, the teacher was able to provide the children with quality time for choice making within the preschool day. This was identified through developmentally appropriate practice that was reflected in a revised daily schedule and lesson plans. The director was able to support this practice through increased knowledge and reflection in developmentally appropriate practice and discussed with the teacher the revised daily schedule. The director also received an on-going assessment tool in developmentally appropriate practice that can be used for evaluation and program growth and development.

The leadership role of the writer helped to facilitate a process of change that assisted the preschool to move from a teacher-directed program to a child-initiated choice-making program. The writer established trust by incorporating the teacher and director in an educational training program that fostered knowledge, understanding, and common vision through active dialogue and collaboration. A plan of action was utilized to bring about child-initiated choice making within the classroom through revision of the daily schedule and lesson planning. The writer supported a plan for on-going growth and development in developmentally appropriate practice through a self-assessment tool that supported reflective practice and life-long learning.



Report of Action Taken

The writer provided educational training for the teacher and the director for 12 weeks in the areas of child development, developmentally appropriate practice, appropriate guidance and discipline, and professional growth and development through the use of a weekly video, journal articles, and activities that reflected the topic for the week. A packet was developed by the writer and given to the director and the teacher at the beginning of training. This packet included the weekly agenda for the 12 weeks, journal articles that reflected each weekly topic, and a notebook for journal writing. Each training session was implemented once a week for 1-1/2 hours. The videos and journal articles that were used served as a catalyst for discussion and dialogue among the director, the teacher, and the writer, while providing opportunities for the teacher and the director to grow in common vision and understanding of the needs of young children and of developmentally appropriate practice.

Each week, the teacher and the director also had the opportunity to grow in reflective practice through journal writing that was based on questions developed by the writer. This journaling encouraged the teacher and the director to reflect on new knowledge, current belief systems about educating young children, and current practice within the classroom. These reflections were then shared once a month among the director, the teacher, and the writer.

The final five weeks of training involved hands-on learning that focused on changes that would foster child-initiated activities within the classroom. This hands-on learning included changes in the classroom environment, the daily schedule, and lesson planning. The teacher and the writer physically redesigned the classroom to include



learning centers and plans were made to purchase new materials and equipment. The schedule was also revised to provide increased time throughout the day for the children to make choices. A choice board was designed to help facilitate the choices the children would make among the various learning centers in the classroom.

Though every topic for the 12-week training sessions was covered, the writer needed to change various days for training to accommodate the schedules of the director and the teacher. Some of sessions were cancelled due to conflicting schedules of the teacher and the director. To accommodate for cancelled sessions, the writer doubled the following weekly sessions to include two days of training for two hours each. Scheduling conflicts also did not permit a common day for training each week that would include attendance by both the director and the teacher. Therefore, the schedule of sessions alternated each week between Wednesday afternoons and Thursday afternoons. This allowed one half of the sessions to be attended by both the director and the teacher and the other half to be attended by only the teacher. The teacher attended all training sessions. The director was provided with a verbal summary of what was discussed at the sessions that the director was not able to attend.



Chapter V: Results

Results

The problem identified in this practicum was that children within the preschool were not given the opportunity to make choices within the classroom. The goal of the practicum was to create and sustain a change from a teacher-directed environment, to an environment that fostered child-initiated activities in order to promote healthy and holistic development, positive self-esteem, and resiliency skills in young children of chemically dependent and abusive mothers.

The following outcomes were projected for this practicum:

1. The teacher will give 90 minutes to child-initiated choice making in each of four 150-minute observations.

This outcome was met. After the 12 weeks of training, the writer observed the teacher for 4 days, 2-1/2 hours each day. During each of these observations, the teacher provided at least 90 minutes for child-initiated activities. These 90 minutes included 30 minutes for open centers for the children upon arrival in the morning and 60 minutes for discovery time. During both of these times, the children were given choice in the use of materials and choices between various learning centers in the classroom. The teacher also provided other opportunities for choice making that extended this time beyond the 90 minutes. These opportunities included gross motor activities of outside play or music and creative movement.

 The teacher and the director will give children the opportunity for childinitiated choice making in four out of six activities in the revised daily schedule.



This outcome was met. Children were given the opportunity for child-initiated choice making in four activities provided in the revised daily schedule. This revision was done by the teacher and the writer and approved by the director. However, the revised schedule included five activities instead of six activities in the schedule (see Figure 3). These eight activities were provided in learning centers that included a variety of activities and materials, as well as large group time where children could choose the songs to sing, creatively move to music, and choose from a variety of outdoor play equipment.

3. The teacher will provide child-initiated choice making in 8 out of 10 daily activity plans in a two-week period.

This outcome was met. After training, the teacher provided the writer with 10 activity plans. All 10 plans were child-initiated. Eight of the 10 plans were provided during discovery time and located at a center among a variety of centers from which to choose. These eight activities provided the children with choices through a variety of materials, through self-expression, and through self-discovery which promoted learning on an individual level. Two of the 10 activities were provided during large group time and included choices for outside play activities or creative expression in movement and song selection during music time (see Figure 4).



9:00 a. m. Arrival: Self-choice- all centers open C. I.

9:30 a. m. Family Focus: large group-children share about their day, sing songs, make choices from the choice board for discovery time C. I. and T. D.

9:45 a. m. Discovery Time: All centers are open C. I.

10:45 a. m. Clean-up

11:00 a. m. Gross Motor/Focus Time: children are split into two groups, half of the group stays inside and chooses between several focused activities, the other half of children goes outside on the playground equipment C. I.

11:30 a. m. Departure: Phase I Phase II and Phase III Language Arts and preparation for lunch C. I.

Note: C. I. = child-initiated activity T. D. = teacher-directed activity

Figure 3 The revised daily schedule

- Day 1: Children will choose from a variety of magic markers and color paper towel.

 After the paper towel is colored they will dip it in water to see colors fading and blending. The teacher will discuss with children what happened and attach paper towel to a stick for a flag. (art/science-discovery time)
- Day 2: Sponge painting: Children will choose from a variety of colored paints and make a people painting using people shaped sponges. (art center-discovery time)
- Day 3: The children will choose to move a variety of ways to music on a CD. (large group)
- Day 4: The children will make collages' from magazines to tell what they would like to do with friends. (art center-discovery time)
- Day 5: The children will create collages using magazines to discuss things that are harmful to our bodies. (art center-discovery time)
- Day 6: The children will plant a variety of seeds in paper cups. (discovery time)
- Day 7: The children will dance to music/ outside play (large group)
- Day 8: The children will observe a variety of seeds at the science table. (discovery time)
- Day 9: The children will compare the progress of two plants, one that is taken care of and one that is not. What are the differences? What do plants need to grow healthy? Compare this to what we need. (discovery time)
- Day 10: The children will create bumble bees from a variety of materials put out at the art center. (discovery time)

Figure 4 The revised teacher's lesson plan



Discussion

Through the training, it was made clear to the writer that increased knowledge in developmentally appropriate practice, as well as reflective practice increased the likelihood that teacher-directed learning could be changed to child-initiated choice making within the classroom. The research that was reviewed also reflected this finding (Bell, 1991; Charlesworth et al., 1990; Charlesworth et al., 1993; Crowther, 1990; Dunn & Kontos, 1997; Gronlund, 1995; Katz, 1996; Kendall, 1992; Shuster, 1995; Snider & Fu, 1990; Stott & Bowman, 1996; Swanson, 1994; Villarreal, 1993; Wadlington, 1995). Particularly effective in the training was the inclusion of visual learning that was presented to the teacher and the director through various videos. The videos were an effective method for stimulating discussion and dialogue between the director and the teacher and increased the effectiveness of learning. The videos also provided the director and the teacher with a clear understanding of what developmentally appropriate practice actually looked like. Gronlund (1995) also found visual aids effective in providing teachers with a picture of what developmentally appropriate practice looked like in real life.

The opportunity for the teacher to apply the knowledge of what was learned to the work environment also proved to be effective. Adult learners find that learning is most effective when application can occur within their own work setting (Wadlington, 1995). The teacher began the training with skepticism. Though the teacher reflected a belief in developmentally appropriate practice, the teacher also believed this population of children needed a more managed environment. The teacher still held on to this belief at the fifth week of training through her dialogue and discussions. However, as the topic of



developmentally appropriate practice grew and developed the teacher began to take small steps in implementing child-initiated choice making within the classroom. Through this application, the teacher experienced first hand the effectiveness of child-initiated learning within the classroom. This application of knowledge also increased the effectiveness of training over the next remaining weeks through the teacher's verbal reflection each week on the implementation of choice making within the classroom.

Journal writing provided the teacher and the director with a personal reflection of teaching practices and helped the teacher to personally compare what was learned and what was done in practice. This comparison created an experience of disequilibrium, which caused the teacher to question what she was currently doing in practice and take steps to try something new. Research also supported the use of personal and on-going reflection as effective in fostering change in practice (Bell, 1991; Duff, Brown, & Scory, 1995; Dunn & Kontos, 1997; Katz, 1993; Naber, 1995; Stott & Bowman, 1996; Tarreton, 1992, Wien, 1995). The teacher ended the training session with a statement that this training was a personal experience in growth as a teacher and provided an understanding that young children need to explore and choose. The teacher also believed that this knowledge and experience would be carried throughout her personal career in the field of early childhood education.

The director also came to the program with a belief in developmentally appropriate practice for young children, but was also skeptical that this practice was not for this population of children. Depending on the knowledge base and support for developmentally appropriate practice, directors could have an impact on whether this practice was implemented within a preschool classroom (Naber, 1995; Villarreal, 1993).



Though the director attended only 6 of the 12 sessions, the director's interest was always expressed. The director's support was also apparent through the freedom that was given to the teacher to change practices within the classroom. The teacher's enthusiasm seemed to be a positive element in the director's responsiveness. However, it remained questionable to the writer whether the director fully understood developmentally appropriate practice. It appears that application of new knowledge in the work setting can have a large impact on growth in developmentally appropriate practice. The director's opportunity to apply this new knowledge in developmentally appropriate practice was limited because the director's visits to the classroom were short and infrequent. The writer believed that the impact developmentally appropriate practice had on a daily basis could not be fully appreciated or understood by the director unless these visits became longer and more frequent.

The self-study tool in developmentally appropriate practice, developed by the writer (see Appendix B) was an important resource to insure that child-initiated practice was sustained within the preschool. This self-study provided the director and the teacher with a reflective evaluation tool that was needed for continued growth in developmentally appropriate practice. The director could also use this self-study tool when the teacher leaves the program, since it reflected both teaching strategies and environments for child-initiated choice making within the classroom.

One of the most fulfilling experiences that resulted in this practicum was the ability to witness the positive effect that choice making had on the children. The goal of this practicum was to provide choice making to foster competence and resiliency in young children affected through parental chemical dependency and abuse. The initial



observations found the children controlled within large group activities with very little social interaction with each other or opportunities to grow in feelings of self-worth through choices and mastering the environment. Through the implementation of choice making, the writer observed that the children were more interactive with each other and excited about the work they had accomplished. This provided opportunities for the children to learn to take responsibility for their actions and learn positive skills in social interaction, particularly through conflict resolution. The opportunity for choice making also helped build positive self esteem in the children. The teacher also began to gain skills in mediating between social conflicts and provide children with alternative choices that would foster positive social development.

The writer believed that children are the hope and foundation of the future. It was critical that all children were provided with a nurturing preschool environment that fostered initiative, self-esteem, and healthy and responsible choice making. This preschool environment was especially critical for children who have suffered from parental chemical dependency or abuse. It was, therefore, the hope of the writer that this report would provide others with a catalyst for reflection and growth in serving the needs of young children.



Recommendations

To further growth in developmentally appropriate practice and child-initiated choice making within this preschool, it was recommended that the teacher and the director continue to gain knowledge in developmentally appropriate practice, continue to grow in reflective practice, and implement the self-study tool on a quarterly basis each year. It was also recommended that the teacher remain mindful that choice making will create a social environment where conflicts will naturally occur. It is through these conflicts that children can learn through concrete experiences how to take responsibility for their actions and learn positive social interactions. These prosocial skills will provide young children with the resiliency of life skills that can prevent the legacy of chemical abuse and child abuse to continue.

The following are the recommendations made by the writer to support other professionals working at changing teacher-directed practice to child-initiated practice within a classroom.

- Knowledge in developmentally appropriate practice does not insure that this
 practice will be seen within the classroom. Therefore, it is important to
 implement a system for reflective practice to be utilized by teachers as a selfstudy process to insure developmentally appropriate practice within the
 classroom.
- 2. When providing education in developmentally appropriate practice, it is beneficial to provide videos or visit other centers where developmentally appropriate practice is implemented. Teachers need to see a visual picture in order to understand how to implement developmentally appropriate practice.



3. When trying to foster a change from teacher-directed practice to child-initiated practice realize that change is a process. Provide the teacher with opportunities to implement small steps and to reflect on these steps after using them. Seeing developmentally appropriate practice in action will support and increase this practice over time.

Dissemination

To provide dissemination to the greatest audience possible, the writer plans on disseminating this report to several social service agencies in the area that serve the needs of young children through preschool programming. In addition, the writer will provide teacher educators with a copy of the report in hopes that this report will provide a dialogue concerning beliefs and practice among preservice teachers. Finally, it is planned that this report will be used in a workshop presentation or a journal article in the future to reach even a greater number of individuals who serve the needs of young children.



References

- Allen, S. M. (1996). Changing educational practices: An ethnographic study of how schools have changed (EA 027 925). Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New York. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 399 668)
- Anderson, G. S. (1993). A survey of teacher's transitions from skills to whole language (CS 011 289). Paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Council of Teachers in English, Richmond, VA. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 357 289)
- Antoniadis, A. (1994). <u>Developing a seamless system for meeting the needs of young children affected by alcohol and other drugs through training and technical assistance.</u> Paper presented at Safe Schools, Safe Students: A Collaborative Approach to Achieving Safe, Discipline, and Drug-Free Schools Conducive to Learning Conference, Washington, DC.
- Bell, N. (1991). <u>Early childhood teachers' theories in practice</u>: <u>What do teachers believe?</u> (PS 020 295). Paper presented at the Early Childhood Conference. Duneden, New Zealand.
- Bredekamp, S., & Copple, C. (1997). <u>Developmentally appropriate practice in early childhood programs, (revised ed.)</u>. Washington DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Brown, W. (1995). Inclusive therapeutic preschool programs for young children. Dimensions of Early Childhood, 23, 22-40.
- Charlesworth, R., Hart, C. H., Burts, D. C., & Hernandez, S. (1990). <u>Kindergarten teachers' beliefs and practices</u> (PS 018 757). Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 318 571)
- Charlesworth, R., Hart, C. H. Burts, D. C., Mosley, J. & Fleege, P. O. (1993). Measuring the developmental appropriateness of kindergarten teachers' beliefs and practices. <u>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</u>, 8, 255-276.
- Crowther, I. (1990). <u>Increasing awareness of developmentally appropriate practices in the early childhood community through pre-service and in-service training programs</u> (PS 019 254). Unpublished doctoral practicum, Nova Southeastern University, Florida. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 326 317)
- Duff, R. E., Brown, M. H., & Scory, I. J. (1995). Reflection and self-evaluation: Keys to professional development. <u>Young Children 50</u> (4), 81-88.
- Dunn, L. & Kontos, S. (1997). What have we learned about DAP? Young Children, 52 (5), 4-13.



- Frede, E., & Barnett, W. S. (1992). Developmentally appropriate public school: A study of implementation of the High Scope curriculum and its effects on disadvantaged children's skills at first grade. <u>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</u>, 7, 483-499.
- Gronlund, G. (1995). Bringing the DAP message to kindergarten and primary teachers. Young Children, 50 (5), 4-13.
- Hoot, J. A., Bartkowiak, E. T., & Goupel, M. A. (1989). <u>Educators beliefs regarding</u> developmentally appropriate preschool programming (PS 018 572). Buffalo: University of New York, Early Childhood Research Center. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 315 179)
- Hyson, M. C., Hirsh-Pasel, K., & Rescorla, L. (1990). The classroom practices inventory: An observation instrument based on NAEYC's guideline for DAP for four and five year old children. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 5, 475-494.
- Katz, L. (1993). Symposium on questions about the quality of early childhood provisions (PS 021 867). Symposium at the Third European Conference on the Quality of Early Childhood Education, Kriopiqi, Chalkidiku: Greece. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 365 432)
- Katz, L. (1996). Child development knowledge and teacher preparation: Confronting assumptions. <u>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</u>, 11, 135-146.
- Kendall, E. D. (1992). A "new" early childhood teacher education (SP 033 981). Paper presented at the Conference of Japan and United States Teacher Education Consortium. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 357 001)
- Kraizer, S. K. (1990). Skills for living: The requirements of the 90's. In <u>Critical issues in prevention of child abuse and neglect: Adolescent parenting life skills for children</u> (pp. 131-193). Austin, TX: Children's Trust Fund of Austin Texas. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 361 116)
- Madison, S. G. (1994). The construction of literacy environments in early childhood classrooms: A spectrum of approaches (PS 022 815). Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, LA.
- Marcon, R. A. (1992). Differential effects of three preschool models on inner city four-year olds. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 7, 517-530.
- Miles, S. L. (1991). Who said so? Defining developmentally appropriate activities for preschool children (PS 019 797). Paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Association of the Education of Young Children. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 336 196)



- Naber, M. B. (1995). <u>Increasing application of developmentally appropriate practice by childcare and headstart staff following training</u> (PS 023 868). Unpublished doctoral practicum, Nova Southeastern University, Florida. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 389 465)
- O'Brien, L. M. (1991). <u>Turning my world upside down: How I learned to question DAP</u> (PS 022 983). Rochester, NY: Nazareth College of Rochester. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 380 192)
- Osborne, J. (1994). A sourcebook of successful school based strategies for fetal and drug affected students (CD 026 096). Portland, OR: Northwest Regional Education Laboratory.
- Passidomo. M. (1994). Moving from traditional to developmentally appropriate education: A work in progress. Young Children, 49(6), 75-78.
- Rust, F. O. (1993). <u>Changing teaching, changing schools.</u> New York: Teachers College Press.
- Shuster, C. (1995). <u>Effects of in-service training on the developmental appropriateness in early childhood education programs</u> (PS 023 491). Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, San Francisco. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 385 379)
- Snider, M. H., & Fu, V. R. (1990). The effects of specialized education and job experience on early childhood teachers' knowledge of DAP. <u>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</u>, 5, 69-78.
- Stipek, D., Daniels, D., Galluzzo, D., & Milburn, S. (1991). Characterizing early childhood education programs for poor and middle class children (PS 019 525). Los Angeles: University of California, Smith Richardson Foundation, Inc. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 329 373)
- Stott, F., & Bowman, B. (1996). Child development knowledge: A slippery base for practice. <u>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</u>, 11, 169-183.
- Swanson, L. (1994). Changes: How our nursery school replaced adult-directed art projects with child-directed experiences and changed to an accredited, child-sensitive developmentally appropriate school. <u>Young Children</u>, 49 (4), 69-73.
- Tarreton, D. (1992). <u>Dimensions of learning: A model for enhancing student thinking and learning</u> (SD 034 729). Unpublished doctoral practicum, Nova Southeastern University, Florida. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 361 326)
 - United States Census Bureau. (1997). [On-line]. Available Internet: URL: http://censu.gov



Villarreal, A. (1993). The challenge for site-based decision making councils: Making quality preschool education accessible to language minority students. <u>Intercultural Development Research Association Newsletter</u>, 2 (6), 9-14, 16. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. 369 545)

Wadlington, E. (1995). Basing early childhood teacher education on adult education principles. Young Children, 50 (4), 76-80.

Wien, C. A. (1995). DAP in real life. New York: Teachers College Press.



Appendix A

Educating Young Children

A Belief System Survey



Educating Young Children A Belief System Survey

Str	ongly Value 5	Value 4	Neutral 3	Do Not Value 2	Strongly Do	Not l	Va	lue		
	ease circle the nur ldren.	mber that a	grees with you	ur personal beliefs ab	out educating y	oun	g			
1	Young children environment.	need to be	active in a cla	ssroom and interact	with their	5	4	3	2	1
2	A quiet preschoo	ol environm	ent provides a	a better opportunity f	or learning.	5	4	3	2	1
3.	Correct answers learned through		•	or reading readiness s.	are best	5	4	3	. 2	1
4.	To complete a prand then expect of	•		eacher explain exactl n.	y what to do	5	4	3 .	2	1
5.	Young children l	learn best tl	hrough self-ch	oice activities.	,	5	4	3	2	1
6.	To insure that ch	ildren learr	n, the teacher i	needs to talk more th	an the children.	5	4	3	2	1
7.	Large group, tea	acher-direct	ed instruction	should be used mos	t of the time in	5	4	3	2	1
8.	In the classroom learning centers	•	should select t	heir own activities fr	om various	5	4	3	2	1
9.	Children should	be able to o	choose how th	ey will use the mater	rials.	5	4	3	2	1
10.	Children can che	oose if they	will participa	ate in group activities	3.	5	4	3,	2	1
11.	Young children the alphabet and		_	er-directed activities,	as teaching	5	4	3	2	1
12.	Flashcards are e	ffective in	helping young	children learn basic	skills.	5	4	3	2	1
13.	Young children in a particular a		allowed to che	oose how long they v	vill participate	5	4	3	2	1
	of time for self-	choice acti	vities.	ed when there is a lar		5	4	3	2	1
15.	Young children directed activiti	-	to learn basic	skills through teache	er-	5	4	3	2	1



16.	Paper and pencil activities are needed within preschool to prepare young children for formal schooling.	5	4	3	2	1	
1 7 .	A teacher should organize her day with large group activities to eliminate chaos and confusion for children.	5	4	3	2	1	
18.	Preschool activities need to be responsive to individual differences in development.	5	4	3	2	1	
19.	To facilitate holistic development in children, self-choice activities need to be provided throughout the day.	5	4	3	2	1	
20.	Each preschool day should incorporate a wide variety of materials that children can choose from.	5	4	3	2	1	
	Background Information 1. What is your educational background?				_		
•	2. Describe your work experience working with young children, including the number of years.						
						_	



Appendix B

Teacher's Self Report

Developmentally Appropriate Practice



Teacher's Self Report Developmentally Appropriate Practice

Changes in Instructional Strategies	Always 5	Often 4	Sometimes 3	Seldom 2	Never 1
An extended amount of time is given to children for choice-making activities.	5	4	3	2	1
The teacher plans with the children and incorporates their interests in the plans.	5	4	3	2	1
The teacher incorporates questioning strategies that extends learning, versus telling or explaining.	5	4	3	2	. 1
The teacher does more listening than talking.	5	4	3	2	. 1
Children are actively engaged in learning throughout the day.	5	4	3	2	1
There are a variety of activities and materials for children to choose from.	5	4	3	2	1
Active interaction and cooperative problem-solving are encouraged.	5	4	3	2	1
Opportunities exist for individual and small group learning.	5	4	3	2	1
There are more individual and small group learning experiences than whole group.	5	4	3	2	1
The curriculum is based on children's interests, with basic skills incorporated as needed.	5	4	3	2	1
The teacher provides for individual needs within the class.	5	4	3	2	1



	Always	Often	Sometimes	Seldom	Never
The teacher provides friendly and encouraging adult interaction with each child.	5	4	3	2	. 1
There are many opportunities for quiet and active play.	5	4	3	2	. 1
Changes in Classroom Environment					
Learning centers are located throughout the classroom.	5	4	3	2	, 1
Learning centers change with the project theme and children's development.	5	4	3	2	. 1
The design of the classroom allows for both quiet and active play.	5	4	3	2	1
A variety of concrete materials are available throughout the classroom.	5	4	3	2	1
The environment says welcome to different needs and abilities.	5	4	3	2	1
Classroom furniture and equipment is child-sized.	5	4	3	2	. 1
Bulletin boards and displays of children's work are at the children's eye level.	5	4	3	2	1
A variety of materials and experiences are available and accessible to all children.	5	4	3	2	. 1
Materials are rotated with the interest and needs of the children.	5	4	3	2	. 1
Materials and equipment are safe and in good shape.	5	4	3	2	1
Adequate space is available for indoor and outdoor activities.	5	4	3	2	1





Title:

11.

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

Office of Educational Research and Improvement (OERI) Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC)



Publication Date:

July 24, 1998

REPRODUCTION RELEASE

(Specific Document)

for the Degree of Doctor of Education

Transforming Teacher Directed Practice to Child-Initiated Practice Within a Treatment/Wellness

In order to disseminate as widely as possible timely and significant materials of interest to the educational community, documents

I. DOCUM	MENT IDEN	ITIFICATION
----------	-----------	-------------

REPRODUCTION RELEASE:

Corporate Source: A fracticum Report Presented to the Ed.D. Programin Child and Youth Studies in Partial Fulfillment

	in micro (EDRS) the follo	or other ERIC vendors, Credit is given to the sou wing notices is affixed to the document.	ical media, and sold through the ERIC Document irce of each document, and, if reproduction relea	Reproduction Service ase is granted, one of
	if pen below.	mission is granted to reproduce the identified doct	ument, please CHECK ONE of the following option	s and sign the release
		Sample sticker to be affixed to document	Sample sticker to be affixed to document	\Rightarrow \boxtimes
	Check here Permitting microfiche	"PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE THIS MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED BY	"PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE THIS MATERIAL IN OTHER THAN PAPER OPY HAS BEEN GRANTED BY	or here
	(4"x 6" film), paper copy.	Sample——	sample	reproduction In other than paper copy.
	electronic, and optical media	TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES	TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES	рарег сору.
	reproduction	INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)."	INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)."	
R	reproduction	Level 1	INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)." Level 2	
N W	Sign Here	Level 1		
	Sign Here	Level 1 Please	Level 2 reproduction quality permits. If permission to rep	roduce is granted, but
	Sign Here Document the system contractor	Level 1 Please Iments will be processed as indicated provided to box is checked, documents will be processed as the Educational Resources Information Center Reproduction from the FRIC microliche or elect	reproduction quality permits. If permission to reput Level 1. (ERIC) nonexclusive permission to reproduce the ronic/optical media by persons other than ERIC r. Exception is made for non-profit reproduction.	is document as employees and its by libraries and other
	Sign Here Document the service agencies Signature:	Level 1 Please Iments will be processed as indicated provided to box is checked, documents will be processed as the Educational Resources information Center Reproduction from the ERIC microliche or electors requires permission from the copyright holde to satisfy information needs of educators in res	reproduction quality permits. If permission to report Level 1. (ERIC) nonexclusive permission to reproduce the conic/optical media by persons other than ERIC r. Exception is made for non-profit reproduction is ponse to discrete inquiries." Position:	is document as employees and its by libraries and other the laborated th
	Document the state of the state	Level 1 Please Imments will be processed as indicated provided to box is checked, documents will be processed at the Educational Resources Information Center Reproduction from the ERIC microfiche or elect ris requires permission from the copyright holde to satisfy information needs of educators in res	reproduction quality permits. If permission to reput Level 1. (ERIC) nonexclusive permission to reproduce the ronic/optical media by persons other than ERIC r. Exception is made for non-profit reproduction.	is document as employees and its by libraries and other third hood. Saucation of the same at the same
	Sign Here Documenther "I hereby grant to indicated above. system contractor service agencies Signature: Ocurred Printed Name: Address: 17700 Rouled Walton	Level 1 Please Iments will be processed as indicated provided to box is checked, documents will be processed as the Educational Resources information Center Reproduction from the ERIC microliche or elect res requires permission from the copyright holde to satisfy information needs of educators in resources.	reproduction quality permits. If permission to report Level 1. (ERIC) nonexclusive permission to reproduce the conicoptical media by persons other than ERIC r. Exception is made for non-profit reproduction is ponse to discrete inquiries." Position: -instructor/adjunct+acult	is document as employees and its by libraries and other the land of the land o

III. DOCUMENT AVAILABILITY INFORMATION (FROM NON-ERIC SOURCE):

If permission to reproduce is not granted to ERIC, or, if you wish ERIC to cite the availability of this document from another source, please provide the following information regarding the availability of the document. (ERIC will not announce a document unless it is publicly available, and a dependable source can be specified. Contributors should also be aware that ERIC selection criteria are significantly more stringent for documents which cannot be made available through EDRS).

Publisher/Distributor:	
Address:	
Price Per Copy:	Ouantity Price:
	<u> </u>

IV. REFERRAL OF ERIC TO COPYRIGHT/REPRODUCTION RIGHTS HOLDER:

If the right to grant reproduction release is held by someone other than the addressee, please provide the appropriate name and address:

V. WHERE TO SEND THIS FORM:

Send this form to the following ERIC Clearinghouse:

ERIC Clearinghouse on Educational Management College of Education - Agate Hall 5207 University of Oregon Eugene, OR 97403-5207

If you are making an unsolicited contribution to ERIC, you may return this form (and the document being contributed) to:

ERIC Facility 1301 Piccard Drive, Suite 300 Rockville, Maryland 20850-4305 Telephone: (301) 258-5500

